In the Supreme Court of the State of California

GERAWAN FARMING, INC.,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,

Respondent,

UNITED FARM WORKERS OF AMERICA,

Real Party in Interest and Respondent.

Case No	FILED
	JUN 2 3 2015
	Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F068526 ALRB Case No. 2013-MMC-003 [39 ALRB No. 17]

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F068676 Fresno County Superior Court, Case No. 13CECG01408 The Honorable Donald S. Black, Judge

⊋ ~ PETITION FOR REVIEW

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
KATHLEEN A. KENEALY
Chief Assistant Attorney General
GREGORY D. BROWN
Deputy Solicitor General
DOUGLAS J. WOODS

ISSUES PRESENTED

Forty years ago, the Legislature enacted the Agricultural Labor Relations Act of 1975 ("ALRA"), recognizing the collective bargaining rights of agricultural workers. In 2002, the Legislature amended the ALRA to include a mandatory mediation and conciliation ("MMC") process, intended to facilitate negotiation and resolve disputes in specified circumstances where an agricultural employer and the labor organization certified to represent its employees have been unable to reach agreement on the terms of an initial collective bargaining agreement ("CBA"). This case arises from the recent MMC between Gerawan Farming, Inc. ("Gerawan") and the United Farm Workers of America ("UFW").

The issues presented are:

- (1) Whether MMC violates the equal protection clause of the state and federal constitutions.
- (2) Whether the statute providing for MMC is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power.
- (3) Whether the Board abused its discretion by directing the parties to MMC, notwithstanding Gerawan's allegations that the UFW had "abandoned" the bargaining unit.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

This Court should grant review to secure uniformity of decision and to settle important questions of law regarding the collective bargaining rights and obligations of agricultural employees, labor organizations, and employers under the ALRA:

The Court of Appeal's holdings that MMC violates the equal

protection clause of the state and federal constitutions and is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power directly conflict with *Hess Collection Winery v. California Agricultural Labor Relations Board* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1584 (*Hess*), which considered and rejected the very same arguments. (See *id.* at pp. 1603–1604 [equal protection], 1604–1610 [delegation of legislative power].) The Court of Appeal acknowledges this conflict, quoting and adopting the reasoning of Justice Nicholson's dissent in *Hess*, while expressly rejecting the *Hess* majority's analysis. (See Slip Op., pp. 45–48, 52–53.)

If left unresolved, this conflict will create confusion in California case law, casting a cloud of uncertainty over the collective bargaining rights and obligations of employees, labor organizations, and employers in the state's essential agricultural industry, and undermining the Legislature's stated goal of promoting stability in labor relations. In practical terms, prior MMC orders, as well as all pending MMC proceedings, will be called into question, unleashing a flurry of litigation throughout the state, and the Board will be unable to fulfill its statutory obligations under the ALRA when new MMC requests are made. This state of uncertainty in California's "most vital industry" (see Stats. 2002, ch. 1145, § 1) is untenable and requires this Court's resolution.

Further, the Court of Appeal's equal protection analysis will reverberate beyond the ALRA and labor relations generally. The Court of Appeal held that MMC violates equal protection because it results in an individualized outcome, applicable to a single employer. In so holding, the Court of Appeal eschews traditional rational basis analysis for a new standard under which any individualized result is a per se constitutional violation. This decision will have wide-ranging repercussions, as individualized outcomes occur in a variety of other contexts where legislation directly or indirectly results in rules governing a single entity.

For example, the Court of Appeal's ruling would arguably call into question a host of laws governing individualized rate-making in the insurance and utility sectors, as well as local rent-control ordinances, which result in property-specific rental rates. In a similar vein, the Court of Appeal's reasoning would arguably preclude any case-specific application of a remedial law or regulation, by which a single entity (or individual) may be subject to a specific, individualized outcome from a range of reasonable alternatives, casting doubt ON the entire administrative decision-making process.

The Court of Appeal's conclusion that MMC is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power also is in error, as it ignores or misapprehends the Legislature's fundamental policy decision in creating MMC, the statutory criteria established for MMC's implementation, and the complexities of labor negotiations. If left uncorrected, this holding calls into question similar interest arbitration processes utilized by municipalities and local agencies throughout the state to facilitate collective bargaining, as well as the Legislature's general ability to delegate legislative power in complex areas of law.

Finally, the Court of Appeal's alternative holding that the Board abused its discretion in directing the parties to MMC notwithstanding Gerawan's allegation of union "abandonment" is contrary to the statutory language, legislative history, and express legislative purpose of MMC, and conflicts with decades of prior case law and Board precedent regarding union certification under the ALRA. The Court of Appeal's decision on this important question thus creates uncertainty regarding the collective bargaining rights and obligations of agricultural employers, labor organizations, and employees, thereby undermining the ALRA's stated purpose of promoting stability in agricultural labor relations. The legal

question at issue is of fundamental importance: what is the nature and meaning of union "certification" and the duty to bargain under the ALRA?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from an MMC proceeding between Gerawan and the UFW, which culminated in a final order of the Board on November 19, 2013. (*Gerawan Farming, Inc.* (2013) 39 ALRB No. 17.) In addition to the procedural history of the case, the following background of the ALRA and summary of the MMC process are important to an understanding of the legal questions at issue and the fundamental errors in the decision below.

I. THE AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS ACT

It is hereby stated to be the policy of the State of California to encourage and protect the right of agricultural employees to full freedom of association, self-organization, and designation of representatives of their own choosing, to negotiate the terms and conditions of their employment, and to be free from the interference, restraint, or coercion of employers of labor, or their agents, in the designation of such representatives or in self-organization or in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection. For this purpose this part is adopted to provide for collective-bargaining rights for agricultural employees.

(Lab. Code, § 1140.2.)¹ Forty years ago, these words heralded the enactment of the ALRA, through which California first recognized the collective bargaining rights of agricultural workers.

The Legislature's intent was clear:

In enacting this legislation the people of the State of California seek to ensure peace in the agricultural fields by guaranteeing justice for all agricultural workers and stability in labor relations.

¹ All further statutory references are to the Labor Code unless otherwise indicated.

This enactment is intended to bring certainty and a sense of fair play to a presently unstable and potentially volatile condition in the state. The Legislature recognizes that no law in itself resolves social injustice and economic dislocations.

However, in the belief the people affected desire a resolution to this dispute and will make a sincere effort to work through the procedures established in this legislation, it is the hope of the Legislature that farm laborers, farmers, and all the people of California will be served by the provisions of this act.

(Stats. 1975, 3rd Ex. Sess., ch. 1, § 1, p. 4013.)

In California's agricultural industry, the goal of achieving labor peace through collective bargaining had historically been undermined by employer stalling, evasion, and "surface bargaining" in negotiations, with the intent of so weakening employee support for the union as to render it powerless to affect negotiations. (See, e.g., *J.R. Norton Co. v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd.* (1979) 26 Cal.3d 1, 30.) "Employee interest in a union can wane quickly as working conditions remain apparently unaffected by the union or collective bargaining." (*Ibid.*, quotation omitted.)

Given this lengthy history of resistance to collective bargaining by agricultural employers, the Legislature expressly vested the Board with the power to award "make whole" damages to remedy bad-faith bargaining. (§ 1160.3; see, e.g., *Harry Carian Sales v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd.* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 209, 229–230.) But even the addition of a "make whole" remedy ultimately proved to be an inadequate incentive for some employers to come to terms with their employees.

By 2002, the ALRA had not fulfilled its promise, as agricultural collective bargaining languished with dozens of union elections never resulting in a CBA. In signing the landmark legislation at issue in this case, Governor Gray Davis explained:

Twenty seven years ago, California made a promise to the men and women who toil in California's agricultural fields that they would have the right to fight for decent wages and working conditions....

Today . . . California will fulfill that promise.

The 1975 law that gave farmworkers the right to be recognized at the bargaining table . . . had a significant impact on the rights, wages and working conditions of California farmworkers. But it is clear that some parts of the system are broken. In nearly 60% of the cases in which a union wins an election, management never agrees to a contract. For example, in one case the parties have been negotiating since 1975. The appeals process, coupled with a complicated formula for determining wages, often takes so long that the farmworkers can no longer be located by the time the award is made. The bottom line is that too many people who were supposed to benefit from the protections of the ALRA are left without a contract, without a remedy and without hope.

(Historical and Statutory Notes, 44A West's Ann. Labor Code (2011) foll. § 1164, p. 401.)

The Legislature similarly found and declared:

[A] need exists for a mediation procedure in order to ensure a more effective collective bargaining process between agricultural employers and agricultural employees, and thereby more fully attain the purposes of the Agricultural Labor Relations Act, ameliorate the working conditions and economic standing of agricultural employees, create stability in the agricultural labor force, and promote California's economic well-being by ensuring stability in its most vital industry.

(Stats. 2002, ch. 1145, § 1, emphasis added.)

MMC was thus enacted by the Legislature specifically to realize the ALRA's goal of promoting stability in agricultural labor relations through employee representation and effective collective bargaining.

II. THE MMC PROCESS

MMC adds two dimensions to the ALRA's collective bargaining process. First, MMC provides for compulsory mediation of stalled first contracts if certain criteria are met. Second, in order to prevent the dilatory tactics that historically diminished the ALRA's effectiveness, if the parties cannot reach an agreement on all contract terms through mediation, the mediator resolves the disputed terms by consideration of specific criteria identified in the statute, and a first CBA is established by Board order. (§ 1164.3.)

Either an "agricultural employer" or "labor organization certified as the exclusive bargaining agent of a bargaining unit of agricultural employees" may request MMC. (See §§ 1164, subd. (a), 1164.11; see generally Slip Op., pp. 12-16 [discussing MMC statutory scheme].) If the request meets the statutory criteria, the Board directs the parties to MMC. (§ 1164, subd. (b).) The parties then have the option of choosing a mediator from a list provided by the Board, or mutually designating a qualified mediator of their own choice. (§ 1164, subd. (b); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 20403.) If the parties cannot agree on a mediator, one will be selected from the Board's list by process of elimination. (§ 1164, subd. (b).) Prior to the first mediation session, "any party may request the mediator disqualify himself or herself whenever it appears probable that a fair and impartial mediation cannot be held by the selected mediator." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 20404, subd. (c).) Mediation initially proceeds for 30 days, and may be extended by the parties an additional 30 days. (§ 1164, subd. (c).)

Ideally, the parties reach an agreement through mediation, thereby ending the MMC process and the Board's involvement in their negotiations. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 20407, subd. (e).) If, however, the parties are unable to resolve all of their differences, the mediator issues a report, which

attempts to "resolve[] all of the issues between the parties and establish[] the final terms of a collective bargaining agreement." (§ 1164, subds. (c)–(d); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 20407, subds. (a)–(d).)

In resolving any disputed terms, the mediator considers certain specified factors "commonly considered in similar proceedings," including: (1) the stipulations of the parties, (2) the "financial condition of the employer," (3) the terms of CBAs "covering similar agricultural operations," (4) wages, benefits, terms, and conditions of employment "in comparable firms or industries in geographical areas with similar economic conditions," and (5) "[t]he average consumer prices for goods and services according to the California Consumer Price Index, and the overall cost of living, in the area where the work is performed." (§ 1164, subd. (e).)

If the process has been successful, the mediator's report will be acceptable to the parties as a reasonable determination of disputed issues. If, however, either party is dissatisfied with the report, the party may petition the Board for review. (§ 1164.3, subd. (a).) If any portion of the report is deemed to be (1) unrelated to wages, hours, or other conditions of employment, (2) based on clearly erroneous findings of material fact, or (3) arbitrary and capricious in light of the mediator's findings of fact, the Board must require the mediator to modify the offending terms by reopening the mediation and issuing a second report. (*Id.*, subds. (a)(1)–(3), (c).) If neither party objects to the second report, it immediately becomes the Board's final order. (*Id.*, subd. (d).) Otherwise, the Board must either order the second report into immediate effect, or enter a final order determining any remaining issues. (*Ibid.*)

If the Board issues a final order imposing a contract, either party "may petition for a writ of review in the court of appeal or the California Supreme Court." (§ 1164.5, subd. (a).)

III. THE GERAWAN-UFW MMC AND CURRENT LITIGATION

Gerawan is a stone fruit and grape grower, employing several thousand employees at its operations in Fresno and Madera counties. The UFW was elected as the representative of Gerawan's workers in 1990, and the Board certified the election on July 8, 1992. (Certified Record ("CR") 2, 23.) The UFW promptly sent a letter requesting negotiations with Gerawan, which Gerawan formally accepted shortly thereafter. (CR 2, 6, 23, 26–29.) UFW made another bargaining request in November 1994, and there was at least one negotiation between the parties the following year, but the parties never reached agreement. (CR 8, 23). In October 2012, UFW renewed its bargaining request, after which the parties met numerous times, but again did not conclude a contract. (CR 2, 10–11, 19, 362.)

On March 29, 2013, UFW filed a declaration with the Board requesting MMC, which Gerawan opposed. (CR 1–145.) On April 16, 2013, the Board entered an order referring the parties to MMC. (*Gerawan Farming, Inc.* (2013) 39 ALRB No. 5, CR 146–150.) In directing MMC, the Board rejected Gerawan's various arguments regarding interpretation of the MMC statute, including its argument that the UFW had "abandoned" Gerawan's workers, and concluded that it lacked authority to address Gerawan's constitutional claims. (CR 147–150.)

Several mediation sessions were held during June and August 2013, but the parties did not reach agreement on all issues, and, on September 28, 2013, the mediator issued a report resolving the remaining disputes and establishing a CBA. (CR 357–609.) Gerawan petitioned the Board for review of numerous provisions of the mediator's report, and the Board remanded six provisions to the mediator for further proceedings. (CR 640–707; *Gerawan Farming, Inc.* (2013) 39 ALRB No. 16, CR 721–731; § 1164.3, subd. (c).) With the mediator's assistance, the parties reached agreement on these six provisions, which the mediator incorporated into his

second report. (CR 745–747.) Neither party requested review of the second report, which therefore took immediate effect as a final order of the Board on November 19, 2013. (*Gerawan Farming, Inc.* (2013) 39 ALRB No. 17, CR 799–803; see § 1164.3, subd. (d).)

Pursuant to section 1164.5, Gerawan filed a petition for writ of review in the Court of Appeal, challenging MMC on various constitutional grounds. In addition, Gerawan alleged that the Board erred and exceeded its statutory authority in referring the parties to MMC and in adopting the mediator's report setting the terms of a CBA.

In a published decision filed May 14, 2015, the Court of Appeal—in acknowledged direct conflict with *Hess*—held that MMC violates equal protection and is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power. (Slip Op., pp. 43–56.) The court also held, as an alternative basis for its decision, that the Board abused its discretion in directing MMC notwithstanding Gerawan's allegation that the UFW had "abandoned" its certification as the exclusive bargaining agent of Gerawan's workers. (*Id.*, pp. 25–42.) The court rejected Gerawan's other statutory challenges. (*Id.*, pp. 18–24.)²

The Board did not petition for rehearing, and the Court of Appeal's decision became final on June 13, 2015.

² In May 2013, prior to the start of MMC, Gerawan filed a petition for writ of mandate in Fresno County Superior Court, raising substantially the same constitutional and statutory arguments as its subsequent petition for writ of review. (Slip Op., p. 5 & fn. 6.) The Superior Court denied the petition in its entirety, and Gerawan appealed. (*Ibid.*) Gerawan's appeal (No. F068676) was consolidated in the Court of Appeal with its petition for writ of review (No. F068526). In its consolidated opinion, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of the writ. (Slip Op., pp. 56–58.) The Board does not seek review of this decision.

ARGUMENT

Review of the Court of Appeal's decision is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and settle important questions of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The decision directly conflicts with *Hess*, and review is therefore necessary to resolve the resulting uncertainty regarding the legal status of MMC. Further, the Court of Appeal's decision erroneously decides several important questions of law, which if left uncorrected will have far-reaching consequences.

The court's erroneous constitutional analysis calls into question the many laws and regulations that may result in an individualized outcome, including, inter alia, utility rate-making regulations and rent control ordinances, as well as interest arbitration processes utilized in labor negotiations by cities and counties throughout the state. The court's statutory analysis is equally problematic, jettisoning decades of case law and Board precedent, as well as the Legislature's stated intent in enacting MMC, to create an entirely new conception of union certification, which undermines the Board's administration of MMC and the ALRA as a whole. Review is therefore required to settle these important questions of law affecting the state's vital agricultural industry.

I. REVIEW IS REQUIRED TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION.

The Fifth District's decision that MMC violates the equal protection clauses of the state and federal constitutions and is an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power directly conflicts with the Third District's decision in *Hess*. Given this split of authority in the Court of Appeal, review is required to secure uniformity of decision.

A. The Court of Appeal Declares MMC Constitutional.

In 2006, the Third District upheld the MMC statutory scheme against a sweeping constitutional challenge. (*Hess*, *supra*, 140 Cal.App.4th 1584.)

In its petition for writ of review, Hess Collection Winery alleged that MMC violates substantive and procedural due process, violates equal protection, unconstitutionally delegates legislative authority, and is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. (*Id.* at p. 1591.) Following a thoughtful discussion of the history of the ALRA, the Legislature's creation of MMC, the MMC process itself, and the Legislature's express and broad authority to regulate labor relations, the majority rejected each of Hess's constitutional claims.

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