INTRODUCTION

This case involves a statutory and constitutional challenge to a forced
contracting process under the Agricultural Labor Relations Act (the “Act” or the
“ALRA”), known as “Mandatory Mediation and Conciliation” (“MMC”). The
Court of Appeal held “that the MMC statute unconstitutionally deprives Gerawan
Farming, Inc. (“Gerawan”) of equal protection and unconstitutionally delegates
legislative authority.” (Slip Op. (“Op.”) at 8.) The Court also held the
Agricultural Labor Relations Board (the “Board” or the “ALRB”) abused its
discretion by compelling Gerawan into MMC without giving Gerawan an
opportunity to prove that Real-Party-in-Interest United Farm Workers of America
(“UFW?) had abandoned the bargaining unit, and thus forfeited its standing to
request MMC. Through this Answer, Gerawan addresses the Petitions for Review
filed by both the ALRB and UFW.

Gerawan acknowledges that this decision conflicts with Hess Collection
Winery v. California Agricultural Labor Relations Board, (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th
1584 (“Hess). Gerawan respectfully submits that Justice Nicholson’s dissent in
Hess, and the unanimous decision in this case, correctly analyze the specific
constitutional infirmities of the MMC statute.

The peculiar facts of this case, however, make it different from Hess. This is
the first — and only — appellate decision to consider the abandonment defense under
the MMC statute. There is no reason to disturb the Court of Appeal’s
well-reasoned and narrowly-crafted analysis.

The procedural posture of this case is also unique. Following UFW’s
reappearance and request for MMC, Gerawan workers initiated one of the largest
sustained decertification drives in California agricultural labor history. The ALRB
determined that a majority of Gerawan’s employees wanted an election to decertify

UFW. The Board then held an election on November 5, 2013.

-1-
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At UFW’s request, the Board impounded the ballots pending post-election
objections and challenges. The ballots have yet to be counted. A six-month
hearing on the post-election challenges concluded in late May 2015. The
administrative law judge is expected to issue a ruling in the near future. Individual
ballot objections may necessitate further proceeding, if and when the Board counts
the ballots. These decision will be reviewed by the Board and, possibly, by the
Court of Appeal. The outcome of these proceedings may take months, if not years.
In the event that the Board counts the ballots and finds UFW decertified, the union
will be ousted, the MMC “contract” will be nullified, and the MMC process will
end.

Gerawan asked the Board to stay the MMC proceedings until the outcome of
the election was known. The Board denied the request without explanation.
Despite the intervening decertification election, which may have ousted UFW, the
Board ordered that the MMC contract take immediate effect. (Op. at 6-7.) UFW
and the General Counsel of the ALRB then sought (unsuccessfully) to immediately
enforce the CBA in the Sacramento County and Fresno County Superior Courts
respectively, notwithstanding the pendency of Gerawan’s appeal.

_ The Board’s contradictory orders thus created a race between the incumbent
union (which seeks to impose itself on the workers via a Board-ordered contract)
and a majority of Gerawan’s employees (who successfully petitioned for a
decertification election to remove the union). By validating the union’s standing to
compel workers into a forced contracting scheme, the ALRB gave its imprimatur
to the very union that a majority of workers wanted the right to decertify.

The MMC statute has no counterpart under federal labor law, which forbids
the government from imposing contractual terms or requiring either a private
employer or a union to make a concession on any substantive term. Nor does it

have a counterpart for private sector employees in any other state. The

.
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constitutionality of collective bargaining is based on the workers’ right to organize
and to strike, and the corresponding right of freedom of contract for all parties,
employers and unions alike. Binding arbitration between private parties is a matter
of contract, not government compulsion. The statute imposes a forced command
on Gerawan and its workers, restricting their rights and freedoms. The
unconstitutional infirmities of the MMC statute — its unlawful delegation, its
creation of individuated and suspect procedures targeting one (and only one)
grower, its lack of judicial review, due process safeguards, or exit rights, apd its
step-by-step evisceration of the workers’ protected collective activities — cumulate
and show the essential unfairness of the procedure, well beyond the grounds upon
which the Court of Appeal based its holdings.

But the election (never mentioned in the Board’s petition) also raises
significant prudential considerations as to whether this Court should grant review
now (if at all), or whether it should defer that decision pending the outcome of the
post-election proceedings.

Should review be granted, Gerawan submits that this Court should first
determine whether the Board erred by compelling Gerawan into MMC, or erred by
imposing the MMC contract affer it ordered an election. These present
independent grounds to vacate the Board’s Order. If the constitutional questions
are reached, then this Court should address the other arguments raised by Gerawan,
but not addressed below. Gerawan believes these different paths lead to the same
outcome reached by the Court of Appeal.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Board erred by directing the parties into MMC

notwithstanding the failure of UFW to negotiate in good faith “for at least one year

after the . . . initial request to bargain.”

-3
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2. Whether the Board erred by directing the parties into MMC
notwithstanding the failure of UFW to show that Gerawan had “committed an
unfair labor practice” relating to contract negotiations with a certified union.

3. Whether the Board erred by imposing the MMC contract after
conducting the decertification election.

4. Whether compulsory interest arbitration under the MMC statute
deprives Gerawan of liberty and property interests without due process.

5. Whether the MMC statute violates due process, or constitutes an
unconstitutional taking of property without just compensation, by failing to provide
the employer with any mechanism that secures “a just and reasonable return” or
any means to obtain relief if the terms and conditions imposed by the MMC
contract proves confiscatory or arbitrary.

BACKGROUND

A. The MMC Statute

MMC is not “mediation” in any accepted sense of the word. The Board
imposes what is termed a “collective bargaining agreement” (“CBA”), via
compulsory state-imposed arbitration between a private employer and an
agricultural labor union. This CBA is not an “agreement,” since (as here) the
employer did not agree to be bound by the terms of a CBA or agree to submit to
binding arbitration. The “agreement” is drafted by a private, third-party
“mediator.” As applied here, the mediator exercised virtually unfettered discretion
as to nearly every aspect of one grower’s relationship (and only that grower) with
its workers by setting the terms and conditions of employment for the thousands of
workers who work at Gerawan.

Once compelled into MMC, the employer may not opt-out of this process.
Once imposed, there is no mechanism for the employer to seek adjustments to the

CBA, whether based on changes in working conditions, the labor market, the
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agricultural economy, or matters beyond anyone’s control, including the
widespread drought afflicting farmers in this state. The workers have no right to
ratify or reject the CBA, though it imposes upon them a union (and the payment of
union dues or agency fees). The CBA limits their rights to engage in concerted
activities protected under the ALRA, including the right to picket or to strike.
Their only exit from the forced imposition of the contract is to quit their jobs.
Their only route to dislodge the union is through a decertification election
(assuming the ALRB permits the election and counts the ballots).

B. The Board Compels Gerawan Into The MMC Process

In response to UFW’s demand to compel Gerawan into MMC, the company
raised statutory and constitutional challenges, including a defense based on UFW’s
forfeiture of its standing due to its longstanding absence. The ALRB dismissed
this argument in one sentence: “The Board has previously considered and rejected
this type of ‘abandonment’ argument.” (Gerawan Farming Inc. (2013) 39 ALRB
No. 5, at 3.)

" To invoke MMC, the Board must find that “the parties have failed to reach
agreement for at least one year after the . . . initial request to bargain.” (Labor
Code § 1164.11, subd. (a).) The Board construed the 12-month requirement as
nothing more than a calendaring event, whereby the union could make an “initial”
request to bargain in 1992 (a decade before the MMC statute was passed), and then
disappear- until it demanded arbitration, two decades later.

The MMC statute also requires a finding that the employer “committed an
unfair labor practice.” Under the Board’s interpretation, any unfair labor practice,
no matter how distant in time or unrelated to bargaining satisfies this prerequisite.
Here, the underlying “ULPs” occurred in 1990, prior to the union’s certification in

1992, and were unrelated to any CBA bargaining process.
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C. The MMC Contract

Once forced into MMC, Gerawan was obligated to present and defend its
position as to dozens of contractual terms which UFW demanded, or risk forfeiture
in the form of a contract based solely on terms proposed by UFW.

Once MMC began, a Gerawan farm worker, Lupe Garcia, asked to
participate in the mediation portion of the process. Gerawan supported his request
to intervene; UFW did not. The mediator, Matthew Goldberg, and the Board
rejected his request. Garcia then asked to attend and silently observe the on-the-
record hearings conducted by Goldberg. The Board rejected this request as well:
“we do not think the public interest in the process of reaching an agreement . . . is
served by public presence during that process.” (Gerawan Farming, Inc. (2013) 39
ALRB No. 13, at 10.) This decision is now on appeal. (Gerawan Farming, Inc. v.
Cal. Agric. Labor Relations Bd., Case No. F069896 (5th Appellate District).)

The mediator submitted his final “Report,” containing employment terms he
“crafted,” to the Board on September 28, 2013. (Op. at 6.) Gerawan excepted to
numerous terms dictated by Goldberg. The fact of UFW’s longstanding absence —
i.e., the “status quo” at the time Gerawan was forced into MMC — certainly should
have been a consideration in determining whether any of UFW’s contract demands
could be justified before imposing a three-year CBA. Goldberg acknowledged the
fact of UFW’s absence, but nonetheless deemed it irrelevant to reordering the
workers’ economic relatibnship with Gerawan and UFW.

The validation of this multi-million dollar wealth transfer from workers to
UFW through forced payment of union dues or agency fees, combined with the
demand that workers be fired if they do not make these payments, was unsupported
by any evidence. Gerawan objected to this infringement on the workers’ rights of
free association. California has never departed from its position of “benign

neutrality” regarding these so-called “union security agreements.” (Pasillas v.
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Agric. Labor Relations Bd. (1984) 156 Cal.App.3d 312, 346.) Nor is it state policy
that workers be promoted or laid-off based on seniority. The mediator made his
own policy, in contradiction to state policy, based on his view that union security
agreements and seniority provisions were “normally” a part of a
voluntarily-negotiated agreement, and therefore should be “non-controversial.” He
retroactively imposed wage increases, including as to contracts with third-party
farm labor contractors. He imposed interest arbitration as to any disputes
concerning the terms of the CBA, and then justified the “no strike/no lockout
provisions” proposed by UFW as a “trade-off for grievance and arbitration rights,
which this Contract will provide.” (App’x at 386.) Nowhere does Goldberg
explain why provisions that may “normally” be part of a consensual agreement
make sense in this setting, or how they relate to the company’s business, its history
of paying the highest wages in its industry, or its prior relationship with workers.

The Board validated the mediator’s decisions, largely without comment or
any meaningful check on the breathtaking scope of the contract Goldberg wrote,
and issued Goldberg’s Report as the Board’s “final order” on November 19, 2013,
~ two weeks after conducting the decertification election.

ARGUMENT _
L The Court Of Appeal Correctly Resolved The Equal Protection

Challenge To The MMC Statute.

The MMC scheme is, to our knox;vledge, the only law in the United States
that permits a state agency to order private citizens into a forced contracting
process, and then to impose a “contract” via an individuated procedure applicable
to only one employer and its workers. The Court of Appeal held that the MMC
statute violates equal protection by intentionally singling out and discriminating
against one employer by creating a special set of rules for that employer alone,

based on a private legislator’s dictat of a compulsory CBA.
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Respondents argue that the Court’s decision “eschews traditional rational
basis analysis for a new standard under which any individualized result is a per se
constitutional violation.” (Bd. Pet. at 2.) The opinion was not “focused
exclusively on the potential for an individualized outcome,” (Bd. Pet. at 17
[emphasis added]), but on the certainty that each employer would be subjected to
“an individual legislative act which, by design, holds Gerawan, and no other
agricultural employer, to the terms of a private legislator’s decision.” (Op. at 46.)
The discrimination is intentional “because the mediator has no power to extend the
enactment to other agricultural employers.” (Op. at 47.) The discrimination is
arbitrary “because there are no standards set forth pursuant to which the mediator’s
decision in this case will be the same as a mediator’s decision in any other case,”
(id.), and “unavoidable that even similar employers will be subject to significantly
different outcomes.” (Op. at47.)

The statute provides no means to ensure that similarly situated employers
will receive the same or similar results under the law. “Inevitably, each imposed
CBA will still be its own set of rules applicable to one employer, but not to others,
in the same legislative classification” concerning every aspect of employment and
the employer-union relationship. (Op. at 49.) This is “the very antithesis of equal
protection” because “every agricultural employer is the one and only member of
the class.” (Op. at 46 [citing Hess, 140 Cal. App.4th at 1615-17 (dis. opn. of
Nicholson, J.)}.) |

Any comparison to rate-making or rent control procedures collapses, such as
those considered in Fisher v. City of Berkeley, (1984) 37 Cal.3d 644 (“Fisher”),
where the dispute turned on a legislative choice between a “market-value” versus
“investment” value measure to adjust rent ceilings. (/d. at 684.) Here, no rational
choices were made as to any standards to be applied, or applied uniformly. (See

20th Century Ins. Co. v. Garamendi (1994) 8 Cal.4th 216, 273 [noting distinction
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between adoption of rate regulations and individuated rate-making decisions, the
latter requiring “the independent-judgment-on-the-evidence standard of review”].)
The MMC statute leaves it entirely to one private legislator to decide every term
based on his subjective views of an unlimited range of factors he deemed relevant,
such as the future possibility of “labor shortages,” or which he considered and
disregarded, such as the disruption of employer’s “business model,” or “a cost in
terms of lower productivity, morale, retention, and competitiveness.” (Op. at 4
n.4.) There is no administrative “fair return on investment” standard, as there was
in Fisher, or any safeguards to protect against the inherent procedural defects
which (as in Birkenfeld), “inevitably deprived all landlords of due process ‘except
perhaps for a lucky few.”” (Fisher, 37 Cal.3d at 684 [quoting Birkenfeld v. City of
Berkeley (1976) 17 Cal.3d 129, 172 (“Birkenfeld”)).) There is no mechanism to
safeguard against the danger of collusive arrangements which benefit the employer
and yield millions of dollars in dues payments to a union, all at the expense of the
workers.

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